017	FILED
<b>V</b>	SID J. WHITE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

AUG 19 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURTE

Ву-

Chief Deputy Clerk

8/478 CASE NO. 81,748

DOUGLAS J. LOVE,

Petitioner,

Vs.

LUZ MARIA GARCIA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JOHN R. HARGROVE, ESQUIRE
HEINRICH GORDON BATCHELDER
HARGROVE & WEIHE
Attorneys for Petitioner
Broward Financial Centre, 10th Floor
500 East Broward Boulevard
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
Telephone: (305) 527-2800

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I

## Statement of the Case

As described in the jurisdictional briefs, this case arose from an automobile accident on April 3, 1986 in which petitioner, Douglas Love, struck respondent, Luz Maria Garcia, a pedestrian who was crossing the street against a red light. The jury awarded respondent \$2 million, which was reduced to \$1 million by a 50% comparative negligence factor.

The central issue involved here is whether medical records showing plaintiff's blood alcohol levels were properly excluded as evidence at trial for lack of trustworthiness.1

Petitioner's pre-trial catalogue, filed on March 3, 1988, included in his list of witnesses the records custodians of both Florida Medical Center and SmithKline Bioscience Laboratories ("SmithKline"). (R. 1210-11) At the pre-trial conference held on March 7, 1988, petitioner's counsel specifically referred to the inclusion of the records custodian of SmithKline in relation to the blood alcohol tests. (R. 1226) Petitioner also listed Leonard Bednarczyk, Ph.D., a toxicologist, as an expert witness, and

As explained later, three subissues are raised by the central question. First, the Fourth District applied the wrong standard of appellate review in this case by characterizing the exclusion as a discretionary act, then -- contrary to the standard of review of discretionary acts -- determined that it would not substitute its judgment for the trial court. Second, the Fourth District improperly determined that the proponent of a business record carries the initial burden on the issue of trustworthiness. And third, the Fourth District improperly determined that petitioner did not lay a proper predicate for the business records to be admitted.

included the hospital records of Florida Medical Center in his exhibit list. Respondent also listed Dr. Bednarczyk and the records custodian of Florida Medical Center in her pre-trial catalogue and included the hospital records in her list of exhibits. (R. 1247, 1249)

On April 25, 1988, the court entered an order resetting the trial from March 28, 1988, to the October 10, 1988 calendar. (R. 1253) On October 13, 1988, petitioner moved for an order excusing him from being called for trial during the week of October 17, 1988, because his expert toxicologist, Dr. Bednarczyk, would be unavailable for trial and his videotape deposition could not be taken beforehand. Petitioner asked that the trial be postponed until after October 24, 1988, because the testimony of Dr. Bednarczyk was essential to LOVE's case. (R. 1277-78) Dr. Bednarczyk was to testify about the so-called "burn out" rate for alcohol. The court granted the motion to be excused from trial, and the matter was reset for the trial docket commencing January 30, 1989. (R. 1279-80) Due to the court's docketing, the cause was again reset, with trial eventually commencing on September 18, 1989. (R. 1, 1290)

During trial, respondent introduced into evidence the Florida Memorial Center records with the results of the blood alcohol tests redacted. (R. 1431) Evidence relating to respondent's alleged intoxication, including the blood alcohol test results, was excluded by the trial court. (R. 16, 22, 261) This appeal followed the adverse verdict to petitioner.

## Statement of the Facts

The accident occurred on April 3, 1986, at the intersection of University Drive and Sunset Strip in Sunrise, Florida. Some time after 11:00 p.m., petitioner was travelling north on University Drive toward his home in Coral Springs after leaving Doctor's Hospital where he had seen two patients who were scheduled for surgery the following day. (R. 833-34) Petitioner's vehicle struck respondent when she was attempting to cross University Drive on foot against a red light. The record discloses that she was wearing black or dark clothing. (R. 297-99, 838-39, 858-59)

Immediately prior to the accident, respondent had been observed by Officer William Collins of the City of Sunrise Police Department standing by herself on the south side of Sunset Strip, Officer Collins was east of University Drive. (R. 813-14) proceeding west on Sunset Strip in his patrol car, and respondent was waving her arms up and down as if gesturing for the officer to come over to her. (R. 815) Officer Collins made a u-turn and pulled up to respondent, who asked him whether he would take her to the Mobil gas station, which she identified by pointing in a westerly direction. (R. 816) Respondent told Collins that she Officer Collins (R. 818) wanted to make a telephone call. testified that respondent appeared to be upset and looked like she had been crying. (R. 817) Officer Collins took her to the station on the southwest corner of University Drive and Sunset Strip. However, upon arrival there, respondent told Collins it was the

wrong Mobil station and that she wanted to go to the one with the "waterfalls." (R. 820) Collins told respondent that he was not a taxi service and could not drive her to the other station which was outside his jurisdiction. (R. 821) Respondent then asked Collins how much she owed him for the ride. (R. 829)

Shortly after dropping respondent off, Collins was summoned to the scene of the accident. He testified that the accident could have occurred within five or ten minutes after he left respondent at the gas station. (R. 823)

Respondent testified that she could not remember anything about the accident and that the last thing she could recall was leaving her sister's place of work to see her nephew. (R. 776-77) She could not remember flagging down a police officer to take her to the gas station. (R. 795)

The only independent eye witness to the accident was Christopher Caviness. When the accident occurred, he was standing on the north side of the intersection. (R. 272) Caviness testified that respondent was wearing dark clothes. He said that, when he first saw respondent, he remembered seeing her stumble. (R. 304) Caviness testified that after respondent had hesitated at the median for a couple of seconds and began to walk, he yelled at her because he could see petitioner's car approaching. When he yelled, respondent just looked at him, "put her head down and kept walking." (R. 306, 309, 311)

Petitioner testified that he was proceeding in the left northbound lane of University Drive within the speed limit and with

his low beams on. (R. 835) He said that the intersection was dark and that he did not see respondent until she "lurched" off the median into his lane of travel. (R. 838-39) The investigating officer, Sam Pagano, testified that the end of the median began some four feet north of the crosswalk. (R. 142) This testimony supported a finding that respondent was not walking within the crosswalk at the time she was struck. Petitioner further testified that after seeing respondent, he immediately applied his brakes but did not have time to avoid hitting her. (R. 838-39)

On the first day of trial, petitioner filed a motion in limine seeking to exclude certain evidence, including the results of two blood alcohol tests and testimony that respondent was intoxicated or otherwise affected by alcohol at the time of the accident. (R. 1300-1300b) The court heard argument on the motion immediately prior to jury selection. (T. 5) (App. B) Respondent's counsel contended that the results from two blood alcohol tests taken while respondent was hospitalized after the accident should be excluded because no witness listed by petitioner in the pre-trial catalogue could lay a proper predicate for admission of the results. (T. 8)

Petitioner sought to introduce the results of two blood alcohol tests of respondent taken while she was hospitalized immediately after the accident. Petitioner also sought to introduce testimony that respondent was intoxicated at the time of the accident. The first blood test, showing a .23 blood alcohol level, was performed by SmithKline on a specimen taken immediately upon respondent's arrival at the hospital. The second test,

showing a .14 blood alcohol level, was performed at the hospital on a specimen taken a couple of hours after respondent was admitted.

In his pre-trial catalogue, petitioner listed and planned to call the records custodians of both SmithKline and the hospital to lay the predicate for the admission of the test results. Respondent moved in limine to exclude the test results claiming solely that petitioner had failed to list any witnesses in his pre-trial catalogue who could lay a proper predicate for admission. Despite the records custodians being listed, the trial court granted respondent's motion in limine. It held essentially that the records custodian could not adequately authenticate the documents. In this regard, the following colloquy took place between respondent's attorney, Mr. Kelley, petitioner's attorney, Mr. Donahoe, and the court:

\* \* \*

[Mr. Kelly] . . . The first point deals with a blood alcohol report that was allegedly performed on our client when she was taken to Florida Medical Center on the night of the accident.

[W]hen they took her to the hospital, they performed - or allegedly performed some blood alcohol tests which indicated that under the Florida Statutes she would have been intoxicated at the time of the accident.

We have filed a motion in limine to preclude any reference to those tests <u>because</u> Mr. Donahoe has not listed on his witness list any witnesses who have any firsthand knowledge as to how those tests were administered; who drew the blood; what kind of tests were performed; the procedures that were followed or anything at all on how these specific blood

tests were performed. (T. 7-8) (App. B) (emphasis added)

\* \* \*

[Mr. Kelley]: So we move in limine in this case to exclude any reference to the blood alcohol reports because there is no witness listed that can lay a predicate to get them into evidence.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. DONAHOE: Judge, <u>I have listed the records</u> custodian of Florida Medical Center and the records custodian of Smith Kline Bioscience Lab. . . .

The specimen was sent down to Smith Kline Bioscience Lab in Miami under the name of a Jane Doe at the hospital with a hospital code number. The test was done. It came back .23. And in this situation it's going to be extremely critical. (T. 12-13) (App. B) (emphasis added)

[Mr. Donahoe]: The hospital themselves ran a blood alcohol test which came out to a .14 which my toxicologist has already testified - we took his video tape deposition for use at trial - that this would be consistent with the burnoff rate for the alcohol back to the original .23 when she was brought into the hospital.

So in this case it's not only - it's not the only evidence. There were two separate blood tests, both of which are consistent. (T. 14) (App. B) (emphasis added)

[THE COURT]: . . . [Y]ou know darned well that what you're doing is letting an unqualified piece of evidence that the jury is going to consider for the truth of what is sought to be proved by it?

Not that there is medical - I mean not that that reading was obtained and the doctor acted

on the strength of that, but rather that the test is there? It's in the medical records; therefore she must have been drunk.

MR. DONAHOE: No sir. I don't think I had to use the toxicologist. The fact that the test revealed that her blood alcohol or the blood alcohol level was .23 --

THE COURT: And then from there, what does that mean?

MR. DONAHOE: Well, if that were the case, I would submit that the lab tests in the medical records would be admissible. (T. 16) (App. B)

\* \* \*

MR. DONAHOE: My next question would be there were records of Smith Kline Bioscience Lab in there, and I have the records custodian of Florida Medical Center. And I would propose that I would subpoen the proper personnel from those facilities to testify as to the procedures whereby these tests are given.

And so the question is whether my listing of the record custodians is sufficient to bring personnel. I think it was rather obvious when I listed a records custodian that I was going to use those records, and if the ruling is going to be that I am required to adduce testimony from these people, I can bring them in and do it, unless Your Honor because I didn't list that rules specifically as opposed to personnel from the facility, that I can't use them. (T. 17)(App. B) (emphasis added)

\* \* \*

MR. KELLEY: Judge, Mr. Donahoe has listed the records custodian of the hospital and the records custodian of the lab. A records custodian is a records custodian, to bring in records. But he didn't list any medical personnel. He hasn't listed the medical records or anyone at the lab by name.

I have no idea who those people are. I'm sure as he sits here, he has no idea who they

are. We are scheduled to start the trial now. I think it's a little bit untimely. (T. 18) (App. B)

\* \* \*

[MR. DONAHOE]: We've got Smith Kline Bioscience Lab doing a test at something like 11:45 or something showing a .23, and we have an entirely independent lab report on the same patient three hours - three or four hours later showing a .14, and testimony that these are consistent.

So I would think that this - I would think that the kind of rationale in this case where it was the only testimony doesn't exist in our case. That's a back-up argument anyway.

THE COURT: All right, sir. Well, the problem with that as I see it is that you're using - I mean you take a lab test which is of a certain quality and has certain infirmities, and you seek to avoid the thrust of that particular ruling by saying we've got another one which is of the same condition, and what you're doing is trying to bootstrap each other with it.

I don't see how that cures anything.

Do you object to his enlarging his witness list to call these other people?

MR. KELLEY: Yes. Definitely.

THE COURT: Response on it, Jack?

MR. DONAHOE: Judge, the only thing I can say is that the nature of the disclosure rules is to disclose what your evidence is going to be. And I don't think it's a matter of playing games and picking the right person.

We knew we were going to use the hospital records. We listed the custodian of the records, and I don't think it's any surprise or anything else if I come up with a ruling here that I've got to have him - to say that I'm going to use one personnel from the

hospital or Smith Kline as opposed to another personnel.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. KELLEY: Well the problem, Judge, is he listed a records custodian. A records custodian is a records custodian. So that's what I'm prepared to try.

Now we are going to start picking a jury. We are here to do opening statements today, and I can't pick a jury when this alcohol question may or may not come in. I can't give an opening statement where the question may or may not come in.

We have to know where we are going. And the problem is trying to find out what tests they performed. And it's extremely unfair to the Plaintiff. So I would object to it.

THE COURT: As I understand the prevailing law on the subject, when you seek to enlarge or amend a catalog, a witness list, at any time after the cut-off date for adding witnesses, you have to approach it from the point of view of whether or not there is any unfair prejudice to the opposing party. Now the general rule is that you should try a case on all of the relevant evidence.

But when that rule flies in the face of the fairness doctrine, then you have to consider whether or not that would constitute unfair prejudice to the opposing parties.

Counsel claims prejudice?

MR. KELLEY: Yes.

THE COURT: All right, sir. Anything further for me to decide?

MR. DONAHOE: No, sir.

THE COURT: All right, sir.

The motion to enlarge the witness list to bring these as yet unnamed people who might be able to support and qualify the document is declined and denied by the court. Objection is sustained. (T. 19-22) (App. B)

Neither respondent's counsel nor the trial court explained how respondent would be prejudiced by petitioner's calling of any necessary listed witnesses.

Petitioner's counsel thereafter announced to the court that petitioner was filing a motion for continuance to permit him either to amend the pre-trial witness list or to call the personnel of Florida Medical Center and SmithKline to lay the necessary predicate for the introduction of the blood test results. (T. 31) Petitioner later filed a written motion for continuance (R. 1298), which was denied by the trial court. (T. 32)

At trial, petitioner introduced the videotape deposition of Caviness, the sole eyewitness to the accident. Prior to the introduction of Caviness' deposition testimony, and at respondent's counsel's request, the court struck the cross-examination of Caviness concerning whether respondent was intoxicated at the time of the accident. (R. 261)

At his videotape deposition, Caviness was asked whether he had observed anything that gave him the impression that respondent either had been drinking or was not completely "straight" at the time she crossed the intersection. (Supp. R. 44; 257-58) Caviness had testified earlier in his video tape deposition that respondent appeared either upset or to have a great deal on her mind. (Supp. R. 8; R. 276) After Caviness gave an equivocal answer to the pending question, defense counsel referred Caviness to the following testimony from his previous deposition:

Q: [By Mr. Donahoe] Chris, at the time from what you observed of the lady, did you observe anything to indicate to you that she might have been under the influence of any alcoholic beverages or anything?

A: [By Caviness] You - she - it -- you know. I always figure since it was like 11:30 and the way she stumbled and stuff, the way that she acted, the way that she looked up at me when I called, you know, to tell her to watch out and then looked over, it looked like she might have been drinking a lot - not a lot, but a little bit, because she wasn't drunk, but she wasn't straight. (Supp. R. 44-45; R. 258-59)

This cross examination of Caviness was stricken. (R. 261) Caviness' answer to the pending question, however, was read to the jury. Caviness answered:

A: . . . See, I don't know how to answer that. When she stumbled, she just sort of lost her footing or whatever. I can't tell what happened to her. It wasn't like a drunken stumble.

She wasn't like she was walking drunk, but I can't answer whether she was or wasn't because I'm not her. (R. 313-14)

During its deliberations, the jury requested that the court re-instruct it on the definition of negligence. (R. 1146) Two hours later, the jury notified the court that it could not come to an agreement on the percentage of negligence. (R. 1149) The foreman advised the court that the jury was split into two sides -- one believing that respondent was more responsible and the other believing that petitioner was primarily to blame. This resulted in the "compromise" verdict. (R. 1152)

On appeal, the Fourth District initially reversed the trial court's ruling. In its first opinion, set forth in its entirety in

footnote 8 of the en banc decision, Love v. Garcia, 611 So. 2d 1270 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (attached hereto as App. A), the court focused directly on the fact that respondent's sole ground for objecting was respondent's assertion that the records custodian could not properly authenticate the documents, and since petitioner was prepared to call the records custodians of both businesses conducting the tests, the court held that the trial court had abused its discretion in refusing to admit the evidence. Id. It said:

[T]he [business records] rule was developed to eliminate the inconvenience and sometimes impossibility of producing witnesses who could testify from their personal knowledge as to the truth of the entries made. The business records exception "is generally recognized because of the reliability of business records supplied by systematic checking, by regularity continuity which produces habits of precision, by actual experience of business in relying on them, and by a duty to make an accurate record as part of a continuing job or occupation. . . . Thus, as long as a party properly authenticates the records through the testimony of the records custodian or other qualified witness, as prescribed by the rule, they are admissible."

Love, 611 So. 2d at 1278 n.8. (citations omitted) (App. A)

A petition for rehearing en banc was then filed.

By a six to five margin, the Fourth District withdrew the panel decision and substituted an affirmance of the trial court's exclusion of the blood test results. <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, 611 So. 2d 1270 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (App. A) In reversing itself, the court held that a proper predicate to admit a blood test as a business record under Section 90.803(6) must include "evidence as to the

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