OA 11-4-93

FILED SID J. WHITE

_

OCT 1 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Tallahassee, Florida

CASE NO. 81,478

DOUGLAS J. LOVE,

Petitioner,

vs.

LUZ MARIA GARCIA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SHELDON J. SCHLESINGER, P.A. 1212 Southeast Third Avenue Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33316 (305) 467-8800 and

JANE KREUSLER-WALSH of JANE KREUSLER-WALSH, P.A. Suite 503 - Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 659-5455

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

The Fourth District did not shift the burden of proving trustworthiness from the opponent of the evidence to the proponent. The opponent must "properly challenge" the medical record entry as it relates to reliability, accuracy or trustworthiness. Love v. Garcia, supra, 1275, 1276. Once the opponent challenges admission of the record on the basis of reliability, accuracy or trustworthiness, the trial court must exercise its discretion to

determine whether the proponent of the evidence has laid the proper predicate for its entry.

Plaintiff's counsel challenged the accuracy, reliability and trustworthiness of the two laboratory reports showing blood alcohol at the hearing on the plaintiff's motion in limine (R 7-8). Plaintiff's counsel moved to exclude the evidence because the defendant had failed to list any witness who could lay a proper predicate for admission of the blood alcohol test results:

The first point deals with a blood alcohol report that was allegedly performed on our client when she was taken to Florida Medical Center on the night o the accident.

Our client was - right before the accident took place, she was picked up by a Sunrise Police Officer named William L. Collins. She was trying to find a Mobil Station. And he drove her to the Mobil Station. And during the time that he was with her, he did not think that she was intoxicated or impaired at all.

And as far as he could see, she talked normally, walked normally, and he let her out of the police car at the Mobil Station which is right at the intersection where the accident took place.

Nevertheless, when they took her to the hospital, they performed - or allegedly performed some blood alcohol tests which indicated that under the Florida Statutes she would have been intoxicated at the time of the accident.

We have filed a motion in limine to preclude any reference to those test because Mr. Donahoe has not listed on his witness list any witnesses who have any firsthand knowledge as to how those tests were administered; who drew the blood; what kind of tests were performed; the procedures that were followed or anything at all on how these specific blood tests were performed (R 7-8; A, B 7-8).

Plaintiff's counsel cited <u>Grant v. Brown</u>, 429 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 5th DCA), <u>pet. for rev. denied</u>, 438 So. 2d 832 (Fla. 1983), to the trial court, where the Fifth District affirmed the trial court's ruling to allow blood alcohol reports into evidence because "they had called the director of the laboratory who testified how the tests were performed; that they were reliable; that there was a scientific basis..." (R 11). Conversely, as plaintiff's counsel argued, the defendant listed no witness who could lay the predicate to get these lab reports into evidence.

The first blood test, done at Smith-Kline, an outside laboratory, was not ordered by any doctor, nurse or care provider at the hospital, but by a policeman who accompanied the plaintiff to the hospital. As the Fourth District stated on page 1275 of its opinion:

There is no suggestion possible, therefore, that any life or death medical decision was made or influenced by that test. Hence the historical basis for trustworthiness of a medical record is entirely absent for the initial test.

...[T]here is no suggestion in this record that any health care provider at the hospital ever considered blood alcohol in treating the pedestrian for her injuries from the motor vehicle accident. There is no evidence that, by the time the results from either of these tests became available (one or two days later?), they were relevant in any way to her treatment. Indeed, the trial judge said:

But the key is are you going to let medical records into evidence despite a charge to the jury or an instruction to the jury that they shan't be considered for any purpose-I mean any other purpose other than what they're put into evidence for when you know darned well that what you're doing is letting unqualified piece of evidence that the jury is going to consider the truth of what is sought to be proved by it [?] Not that there is medical-I mean not that that reading was obtained and the doctor acted on the strength of that, but rather that the test is there? It's in the medical records; therefore she must have been drunk. [e.s.] R. 15-16.

Love v. Garcia, supra, 1275. Thus, the predicate and historical basis for trustworthiness of a medical record are absent from the blood tests here. Compare Andres v. Gilberti, 592 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), where the test and the results were used for medical treatment.

The plaintiff demonstrated the inaccuracy, unreliability and untrustworthiness of the reports. The first blood sample was drawn on April 4, 1986, at 12:25 p.m. and showed a blood alcohol level of .23 (SR 56-58, pp. 9, 18). The typed name on the report was "Jane Doe"; a handwritten notation on the side of the report indicated, "Garcia Luz 372-A" (SR 56-88, p. 19). The results were reported on April 4, 1986 at 08:51 (SR 56-88, p. 19). The defendant's expert speculated that the time shown on the Smith-Kline report for drawing the blood sample was wrong and should have

been 12:25 a.m. (SR 56-88, pp. 9, 18-19). The second test was done in the hospital, but there was no showing as to who requested it or why, nor any suggestion that any health care provider at the hospital considered the blood alcohol in treating the plaintiff for her injuries. Love v. Garcia, supra, 1275.

The Florida Evidence Code is different from the Federal Rule in that it contains the following subsection in Section 90.803(6):

(b) no evidence in the form of an opinion or diagnosis is admissible under paragraph (a) unless such opinion or diagnosis would be admissible under § 90.701-90.705 if the person whose opinion was recorded would testify to the opinion directly.

As the defendant recognized on page 19 of his brief, subsection (b) addresses "hearsay within hearsay", so that "if the record contains an opinion, the opinion itself must be admissible...". A hearsay statement contained in hearsay is admissible only when both statements conform to the requirements of a hearsay exception. See Harris v. Game and Fresh Water Fish Com'n., 495 So. 2d 806, 809 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

The amount of alcohol in a person's blood is an opinion. A laboratory technician, based on education and training, performs a test and arrives at a conclusion. If it were not an opinion, a lay person could testify as to blood alcohol, which the law clearly does not permit. Thus, any medical record or entry in a record or chart is inadmissible as a business record if it would not be

admissible as an opinion if the entrant of the record was present in court and testifying. Love v. Garcia, supra, 1274.

Under Section 90.803(6)(b) it is necessary, at the very least, to know the qualifications of the individual rendering the opinion or diagnosis to determine the admissibility of the evidence. In this case, not only were the qualifications of the lab technicians never presented, his or her identity was unknown. The defendant neither listed nor presented any witness to qualify the lab report as admissible evidence under Section 90.803 (6)(b) and, therefore, the trial court properly excluded it.

In addition, the defendant never proffered the records custodians' testimony; therefore, it is impossible for this Court to determine whether the records custodians could have laid the proper predicate under the business records exception. Further, the defendant never proffered the testimony of the other witnesses he intended to call to establish the "chain of custody".

Prior decisions of this Court and other appellate courts routinely hold that the mere presence of a lab report showing blood alcohol in a hospital record does not make it an admissible "business record". See National Car Rental System, Inc., v. Holland, 269 So. 2d 407, 409 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972), cert. denied, 273 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 1973); Brevard County v. Jacks, 238 So. 2d 156 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970). In State v. Strong, 504 So. 2d 758 (Fla.

1987), the driver of a vehicle involved in a collision was taken to a hospital where a non-certified lab technician removed his blood for testing for medical as opposed to criminal or accident investigation purposes. In discussing the procedures necessary for blood tests to be admissible as evidence, this Court held as follows on page 760 of the opinion:

[E]ither the state or the defendant may have the blood test evidence admitted on establishing the traditional predicates for admissibility, including test reliability, the technician's qualifications, and the test result's meanings. (Emphasis added)

Similarly, this Court in <u>Smith v. Mott</u>, 100 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 1957), analyzed whether a witness could testify concerning the results of a blood alcohol analysis which he did not perform. This Court held that the testimony of the medical examiner as to a report his office received from the public health service on the alcohol content of the decedent's blood sample was admissible under the "public records" exception to the hearsay rule, not applicable to this case. This court's reasoning in <u>Smith v. Mott</u>, <u>supra</u>, on page 175 of the opinion, however, is pertinent:

McCormick summarizes the requirements which some courts have made for introduction of the results of the tests as follows:

"The party offering the results of any of these chemical tests must first lay a foundation by producing expert witnesses who will explain the way in which the test is conducted; attest its scientific reliability, and vouch for its correct administration in the particular case."

An examining doctor may need to send such elements as blood to adequately equipped laboratories to best accomplish his examination, and "When properly made the results of such examination or analysis shall be admissible at the trial as evidence in this cause." Depfer v. Walker (on rehearing), 1936, 125 Fla. 189, 194, 169 So. 660, 663. Such results, however, must be introduced in evidence through competent witnesses:

"Because of the rule against hearsay, the report of a chemist, bacteriologist, or <u>laboratory</u> technician as to the result of an examination made by him under the statute is not competent evidence in a case of this kind, but the chemist or bacteriologist who made the examination or the analysis, if shown to be competent to speak as an expert, may testify as to what it <u>Depfer v. Walker</u>, supra. showed". (Emphasis added).

<u>Smith v. Mott</u>, distinguished blood alcohol test reports prepared by a recognized public agency in the performance of its duties and blood alcohol test reports, like here, prepared by a private analyst for the use of private interests. <u>Id.</u>, at 176. In the latter case, McCormick's rule applies, requiring the traditional predicate to establish the reliability of the test, the qualifications of the operator, and the meaning of the test results by expert testimony. <u>See also State v. Bender</u>, 382 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 1980).

Other appellate courts which have considered the issue hold that blood alcohol test results contained in hospital records are

not admissible through the testimony of a hospital records custodian. Riggins v. Mariner Boat Works, Inc., 545 So. 2d 430 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), reversed the trial court's admission of a lab report of a blood alcohol test as a business record where "[n]either the medical examiner nor the lab technician who performed the alcohol test was available to testify at trial."

In <u>City of Tampa v. Green</u>, 390 So. 2d 1220 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980), a blood alcohol test was administered in a hospital following an accident. The First District held that even though the report was in the hospital records, it was not admissible because the "... laboratory technician who performed the test could not be located." <u>Id.</u> Medical tests and examinations, contained in hospital reports, qualify as business records "if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify [their] admission", and the trial court "retains much discretion as to the admissibility of particular entries of papers...". <u>Id.</u>, at 1220.

Grant v. Brown, supra, 1231, held that results of a blood alcohol test taken in the hospital during the medical treatment of an injured party, were admissible as part of the injured party's hospital records, where the defendant established the proper predicate by demonstrating that "the test was scientific, reliable, done by qualified technicians with proper equipment, and interpreted by an expert."

Dutilly v. Dept. of Health & Rehabilitative Serv., 450 So. 2d 1195, 1197 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), held that in order for blood tests to be admissible under the business records exception, the proponent must demonstrate the following:

The results were compiled in the course of regularly conducted activity, by someone or from information transmitted by someone with knowledge, that the "practice" of the "business" activity was to keep such record and that the opinion of paternity contained in the report would be admissible under Section 90.701-90.705. (Emphasis added)

The last phrase refers to Section 90.803(6)(b), which requires knowing the qualifications of the individual rendering the opinion or diagnosis to determine the admissibility of the evidence.

In addition to determining whether the proponent has laid the proper predicate, a trial court must determine, as it does in all evidentiary rulings, whether introduction of evidence regarding blood alcohol may create prejudice to the point that it outweighs the evidence's relevancy or probative value. Love v. Garcia, supra, 1276. As the Fourth District stated on page 1276 of the opinion:

To remove any possible prejudice from bare testing data in a hospital chart the judge is empowered, under subsection (b) of FEC section 90.803(6), to conclude that the test result or entry requires the circumstances of testimony from a qualified expert to establish its use in the case. The court is allowed, in short, to weigh any possible misunderstanding or prejudice from such evidence against its diagnostic implications.

The trial court obviously was concerned that any probative value from these entries might be overcome by prejudice to the plaintiff (See quote pp. 13-14 <u>infra</u>). (R 15-16). <u>Id</u>., at 1276.

The defendant further contends the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to allow him to call unlisted witnesses to establish the "chain of custody". Contrary to the representations in the defendant's brief, the defendant knew at the pretrial conference that the plaintiff was objecting to admission of the blood alcohol test reports contained in the medical records The defendant did not list and did not (R 1224-1252a, p. 19). intend to call anyone with firsthand knowledge as to how the tests were administered, who drew the blood, what kind of tests were performed, or what procedures were followed. On the morning trial was scheduled to begin, the defendant's counsel first announced that he wanted to bring in personnel from the lab to testify regarding the lab procedures (R 17). Plaintiff's counsel objected, stating that he had no idea who the defendant was referring to, as the defendant had neither listed nor named anyone at the lab (R 18). Plaintiff also objected to the defendant's enlarging the witness list because trial was scheduled to begin that day (R 20).

The plaintiff was prepared to try the case based upon the defendant's calling records custodians, not lab personnel. The plaintiff suffered prejudice by not knowing who the defendant

intended to call or which tests were performed (R 21-22). The trial court agreed and refused to admit the reports into evidence or allow the defendant to continue or postpone the trial (R 20-22). The trial court's rulings were amply supported since, even at that late date, the defendant had no idea who he intended to call or what their testimony would be. The defendant's request was untimely and unwarranted.

The blood alcohol test reports here were uncorroborated, unreliable and unauthenticated. The defendant's own expert, Dr. Bednarczyk, acknowledged his unfamiliarity with the tests. addition, Officer Collins' and Mr. Caviness' observations of the plaintiff contradicted Dr. Bednarczyk's testimony that, assuming the blood levels were the plaintiff's, she would have been markedly impaired. These contradictory observations, coupled with Dr. Bednarczyk's assumption necessary to his opinion that the time were wrong, rendered the reports untrustworthy, unreliable and inadmissible. To reverse this case for a new trial, where the defendant presented no evidence that the plaintiff had a high alcohol reading except two pieces of paper inserted into the hospital records, does not comport with logic and reason.

CONCLUSION

The Fourth District's opinion is consistent with established law on the issue. The final judgment should be affirmed.

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